

A Professional Corporation 140 South Dearborn Street, Suite 600 Chicago, IL 60603 www.ancelglink.com Julie A. Tappendorf jtappendorf@ancelglink.com (P) 312.604.9182 (F) 312.782.0943

# MEMORANDUM

**To:** Monica Harris, Executive Director

Reaching Across Illinois Library System

**From:** Julie A. Tappendorf

Erin M. Monforti

**Subject:** Board Member Compliance with Various Laws

**Date:** October 2, 2023

There are various laws in effect in Illinois which impact the day-to-day business of Reaching Across Illinois Library System (RAILS). You have asked us to provide you with a brief summary of each of these laws to provide to the Board members to assist them in fulfilling their duties, which is provided below. Please note this is by no means an exhaustive list of the laws applicable to library systems and public libraries in Illinois—rather, this memo is intended to provide general information about the more commonly known and widely applied laws.

#### Illinois Open Meetings Act (OMA), 5 ILCS 120

The Illinois Open Meetings Act (OMA) requires Illinois public entities to conduct public business in the open. As a general rule, the OMA requires public bodies to provide notice to the public in advance of any meeting of the public body. An agenda must also be posted in advance of those meetings, and the meetings must be open to the public. Minutes must be taken of each meeting of a public body, and those minutes made available to the public.

There are three components to the "open meeting" requirement. First, the OMA applies to public bodies, as defined under the OMA. Second, the notice and open meeting requirement is triggered where a majority of a quorum of a public body "gathers" at a meeting to discuss public business. Third, meetings which are required to be open per the OMA must be held at specified times and places which are convenient and open to attendance by the public. A meeting is not limited to inperson gatherings, but includes electronic communications. As an example, if a public body consists of 7 members, 3 of those members would constitute a majority of a quorum. Those 3 members cannot participate in a phone call together to discuss public business because that would trigger the notice, agenda, and minutes requirements of the OMA.

There are a variety of exemptions to the open meetings requirements that allow a public body to go into closed session (also known as executive session) to discuss certain topics such as pending litigation or personnel matters.

October 2, 2023 Page 2

In addition to the requirements that a public body conduct business at a duly-noticed meeting that is open to the public, board members must also complete the electronic OMA training session offered by the Illinois Attorney General within 90 days of taking office. 5 ILCS 120/1.05(b). This electronic training program can be found at the following link: https://foiapac.ilag.gov/.

Finally, there are a variety of posting requirements under OMA, including requirements that certain information be posted on a public body's website, as follows:

- 1. <u>Annual Meeting Schedule</u>. A public body that has a website maintained by full-time staff of the public body must post on its website the annual schedule of regular meetings for the governing body. That annual schedule must remain on the website until a new schedule is approved. 5 ILCS 120/2.02(b).
- 2. <u>Meeting Notices</u>. A public body must also post notice of the regular meetings of the governing body on its website (if maintained by full-time staff). The meeting notice must remain on the website until the regular meeting is concluded.5 ILCS 120/2.02(b).
- 3. <u>Meeting Agendas</u>. A public body must also post on its website (if maintained by full-time staff) the agenda of any regular meetings of the governing body. That notice must remain until the regular meeting is concluded. 5 ILCS 120/2.02(a).
- 4. <u>Meeting Minutes</u>. A public body must post on its website (if maintained by full-time staff) minutes of a regular meeting of its governing body open to the public within 10 days after the approval of the minutes by the public body. The minutes must remain on the website for at least 60 days after their initial posting. 5 ILCS 120/2.06(b).
- 5. Employee Compensation Package. 6 days after approving the annual budget, a public body that participates in the IMRF must post on its website the total compensation package for each employee having a total compensation package that exceeds \$75,000 per year. Also, at least 6 days prior to approving an employee compensation package that equals or exceeds \$150,000, the public body must post the total compensation package information on its website. Alternatively, a public body can choose to post a notice on its website with directions detailing where compensation package information can be obtained. For public bodies without a website, the information must be posted at the main office. 5 ILCS 120/7.3.

The OMA also requires each public body to provide an opportunity for the public to provide public comment at a meeting. 5 ILCS 120/2.06(g). If a public body places any restrictions on the public comment period (i.e., time limits per person), the public body must formally adopt a written policy setting forth these public comment restrictions.

October 2, 2023 Page 3

#### Illinois Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), 5 ILCS 140

The Illinois Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) is another "government transparency" law. As a general rule, FOIA provides that government records must be made available to the public upon request. Like the OMA, there are a number of exemptions that allow a public body to withhold from the public certain records, such as attorney-client communications, personnel evaluations, closed session meeting minutes, among many others.

Each public body must appoint a FOIA Officer who is responsible for receiving, reviewing, and responding to FOIA requests. The FOIA Officer must go through an electronic training program offered by the Illinois Attorney General.

In addition, every public body must prominently display at its office and make available certain information, including the name of its FOIA Officer. The public body must also display and make available information about the public body including (1) short summary of its purpose; (2) block diagram of its subdivisions; (3) total amount of its operating budget; (4) number and location of all offices; (5) number of full and part time employees; (6) list of and membership of all advisory boards, commissions, and committees; (7) the process for requesting public records under FOIA; (8) name of FOIA Officer; (9) address where requests should be directed; and (10) FOIA fees.

For board members, there is usually very little day-to-day involvement in FOIA compliance because that responsibility is delegated to the FOIA Officer. However, board members should be aware that their communications could be subject to public release. Letters, emails, text messages, etc. that discuss public business may be subject to release under FOIA. Certainly, if the communication is sent using a government device or account, it will likely be releasable. Even some communications that are sent on a private device or account might be subject to FOIA if they are (1) forwarded to/from a government account; (2) sent to a majority of the public body; or (3) are sent during a meeting of the public body.

#### Illinois Public Labor Relations Act, 5 ILCS 315

The Illinois Public Labor Relations Act grants public employees and employers the right to bargain collectively, and is the primary law governing relations between unions and government employers. The Illinois Labor Relations Board is the state agency that administers the Act. The statute guarantees the right of employees to organize and to bargain collectively with their employers or to refrain from all such activity. The Act also includes certain provisions relating to grievances and unfair labor practices. The Act provides guidance to both employers and employees in the establishment of a union, negotiation of the collective bargaining agreement, mediation of disputes and grievances, and various other issues relating to union employees.

Recently, workers' rights advocates have begun to argue that the provisions of the Act may be altered or weakened by the successful adoption of the Workers' Rights Amendment to the

October 2, 2023 Page 4

Illinois Constitution in 2021. The amendment declares that "[n]o law shall be passed that interferes with, negates, or diminishes" workers' rights to bargain collectively. ILL. CONST., ART. I, § 25. Whether there will be legislative efforts to change the provisions of the Act, pursuant to the Amendment, is still unclear.

### **Illinois Governmental Ethics Act, 5 ILCS 420**

The Illinois Governmental Ethics Act is a comprehensive state statute governing ethical standards for state and local government officials and employees, including board members. Most of the provisions focus on state legislator activities; however, the requirement of filing a disclosure of economic interests applies to library officials. Under that provision, elected and appointed officials (and candidates for office) must file statements of economic interest disclosing professional, personal, and business interests. The statements must be filed with a candidate's nominating papers (for elected officials) or at the time of the initial employment or appointment to office. Additionally, the Act provides for annual filing of statements of economic interests for elected and appointed officials identified for compliance by the administrative head of the government body and the Illinois Secretary of State. 5 ILCS 420/4A-106.

#### Local Records Act, 50 ILCS 205

The Local Records Act requires public bodies to retain certain original or historically significant government records unless approved for destruction by the state archivist or local records commission. The administration of the Act is typically handled by administrative staff. Before destroying any public record covered by the Act, the public body must obtain permission, usually in the form of a certificate of destruction or approval of a records destruction schedule. There are various time frames for retention of records (as an example, most emails and other correspondence can be destroyed in one year, provided authorization is obtained).

# State Officials and Employees Act, 5 ILCS 430

The State Officials and Employees Act requires all units of local government to adopt local ethics rules that are no less restrictive than the state ethics laws. These rules must, at a minimum, contain the following policies:

- 1. Gift Ban Act. The Act includes certain bans on government officials and employees accepting gifts from prohibited sources (i.e., someone seeking official action from or doing business with the public body). There are a number of exceptions to the ban that allow an official or employee to accept certain gifts, including nominal gifts (less than \$100/year), restaurant meals (less than \$75/day), and a variety of others.
- 2. <u>Prohibited Political Activities (campaigning/electioneering).</u> The Act also prohibits government employees from performing any campaign activity during compensated time or requiring others to perform such activities.

October 2, 2023 Page 5

3. <u>Sexual Harassment Policy.</u> Local governments must take formal action to adopt sexual harassment policies containing (i) a prohibition on sexual harassment; (ii) procedures for reporting allegations of sexual harassment; (iii) a prohibition on retaliation for reporting allegations of sexual harassment; and (iv) consequences for violating the sexual harassment policy or knowingly making a false report.

## Public Funds Deposit Act, 30 ILCS 225

The Public Funds Deposit Act requires the treasurer or other custodian of public funds to deposit public funds an approved type of banking institutions or to invest the funds in accordance with the Public Funds Investment Act (see below).

#### Public Funds Investment Act, 30 ILCS 235

The Public Funds Investment Act regulates the type of investments that public bodies are authorized to make with public funds. The Act applies to "public agencies," which include public libraries and library districts. The Act requires the public body to adopt a written investment policy to govern the investment of public funds. The policy must comply with the specific requirements contained in section 2.5 of the Act.

#### Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund Act (IMRF), 40 ILCS 5/7-101

The Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund Act is the pension program for most local government employees (non-public safety). The pension fund is financed through employer and employee contributions, which are set by state law and the fund itself.

#### Public Officer Prohibited Activities Act, 50 ILCS 105

This statute prohibits certain conflicts of interest by local government officials and employees. The statute provides a general rule that a government official cannot be financially interested directly in any contract or business about which the officer would be called to vote. There are exceptions for certain small contracts that would allow an official to disclose the interest and recuse him or herself from the vote.

An example of a prohibited conflict of interest would be a library board member proposing to enter into a contract with his own library to provide legal services for a retainer amount of \$10,000. The contract provides a direct benefit to the board member, the board member would be expected to vote on the contract, and the contract exceeds the "small contract" exceptions in the Act.

Recently, the Public Officer Prohibited Activities Act was amended by the Illinois General Assembly to prohibit units of local government—including public libraries—from retaliating

October 2, 2023 Page 6

against whistleblowers. Whistleblowers are employees or contractors who report "improper governmental action" according to the statute, cooperate with an investigation of an improper governmental action; or testify in related proceedings. Many libraries have since adopted whistleblower protection policies, and we recommend the Board familiarize itself with the provisions of the amended law.

# **Illinois Library System Act, 75 ILCS 10**

The Illinois Library System Act establishes a network of library systems through the state. These systems are comprised of multiple library districts or public libraries, and are governed by a board of directors. The Act provides for the State Librarian to serve as the administrator.

The powers of the system's board of directors are set out in state statute, and are summarized below:

- 1. To develop by-laws and a plan of service for the system.
- 2. To make expenditures on behalf of the system.
- 3. To adopt policies for the operation of the system.
- 4. To purchase or lease a building for the system to use.
- 5. To appoint and pay a salary to a librarian, who will have the authority to hire other employees, and to retain counsel and professional consultants.
- 6. To contract with any other government body or private entity to provide services to the system.
- 7. To accumulate reserve funds for the acquisition of land.
- 8. To contract on behalf of the system.
- 9. To encourage the annexation of adjacent areas.
- 10. To join ALA and ILA.
- 11. To hold title to land and personal property.
- 12. To borrow money to improve system facilities, including mortgaging of system property up to 75% of its value.

#### Americans With Disabilities Act, 42 USC § 12101

The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) is a federal statute that prohibits discrimination against people with disabilities, and those who have relationships or associations with individuals with disabilities. The law is comprised of five titles that prohibit discrimination against people with disabilities within the United States in different aspects of their lives. Titles I and II are relevant to public bodies.

October 2, 2023 Page 7

Title I prohibits employers from discriminating against qualified job applicants and workers who are or who become disabled, have a record of having a disability, or are perceived as having a disability. The law covers all aspects of employment including the application process and hiring, training, compensation, advancement, transfer, and any other employment term, condition, or privilege.

Title II prohibits state and local governments from discriminating against disabled persons in their programs and activities. Title II of the ADA provides that people with disabilities must have equal opportunities to benefit from local government programs, services, and activities. Title II also sets forth the applicable structural accessibility requirements for public entities.

# Illinois Human Rights Act, 775 ILCS 5

The Illinois Human Rights Act (IHRA) prohibits discrimination in employment, real estate transactions, financial credit, and access to public accommodations. The IHRA generally defines "unlawful discrimination" as discrimination on the bases of "race, color, religion, sex, national origin, ancestry, age, order of protection status, marital status, order of protection status, physical or mental disability, military status, sexual orientation, pregnancy or unfavorable discharge from military service." Unlawful discrimination is prohibited in all of the areas covered by the IHRA, including employment.

The IHRA also prohibits sexual harassment in employment. It is also a separate violation of the IHRA for a public contractor to fail to comply with its affirmative action obligations. Finally, it is a violation for a public employer to deny an employee's request to work alternative hours in order to make up time the employee misses from work in order to practice religious beliefs.

In addition to the employment protections of the IHRA, the Act provides that it is a civil rights violation for anyone to refuse the full and equal enjoyment of the service or facilities of any public place of accommodation. The definition of "public place of accommodation" specifically mentions libraries. 775 ILCS 5/5-101(A)(9).

# **Decennial Committee on Local Government Efficiency Act, 50 ILCS 70**

In 2022, the General Assembly passed Public Act 102-1088, creating the Decennial Committee on Local Government Efficiency Act (Decennial Act). This new law requires units of local government that levy taxes to form committees to study local efficiencies and report recommendations regarding improved efficiency and accountability to the county board in which the government is located. Committees were required to be formed by June 10, 2023, and will meet at least three times before submitting a report to the county (which must be completed no later than 18 months after the committee was initially formed).

We have drafted guidance materials and other information on the Decennial Act that we have shared with RAILS staff and its members.

October 2, 2023 Page 8

# Exhibit A

Exhibit 4.12 Certification indicating review and compliance of Board with Illinois statutes

10			
Legal Statute	Citation	Board	(continue adding
		Member	Board Member
		Name	Names in
			additional
			columns)*
OMA	5 ILCS	**	
	120		
FOIA	5 ILCS		
	140		
IL Public Labor	5 ILCS		
Relations Act	315		
IL Government	5 ILCS		
Ethics Act	420		
Local Records Act	50 ILCS		
	205		
State Officials &	5 ILCS		
Employees Act	430		
Public Funds	30 ILCS		
Deposit Act	225		
Public Funds	30 ILCS		
Investment Act	235		
IMRF	50 ILCS 5		
Public Officer	50 ILCS		
Prohibited	105		
Activities			
IL Library System	75 ILCS		
Act	10		
American with	42 USC		
Disabilities Act	1201		
IL Human Rights	775 ILCS		
Act	5		

<sup>\*</sup>Insert column for each Board member

<sup>\*\*</sup>Mark X if in compliance with each statute (for each member)